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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · ·P R O C E E D I N G S

·3· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Good morning.· Before

·5· · we begin, I would like to go over some

·6· · instructions for this video and telephone

·7· · conference.

·8· · · · · · · ·If you joined online, please mute your

·9· · microphone.· If you've called in via phone, please

10· · use the "mute" feature of your phone.· Once the

11· · hearing begins, everyone will be muted except for

12· · those presenting.· If you've called in, you can

13· · unmute yourself by pressing "star 6."

14· · · · · · · ·Witnesses for the Applicant and anyone

15· · wishing to make comments, please wait to be

16· · individually called upon by your attorney or by

17· · the Division before speaking.· Please mute your

18· · microphones anytime you're not speaking and when

19· · you have finished presenting to avoid any

20· · feedback.

21· · · · · · · ·I am now asking anyone who would like

22· · to make comments, please state your name slowly

23· · and clearly for the Division and identify whether

24· · you are an unleased mineral owner, working
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·1· · interest owner, or owner with a property in the

·2· · Withey NE WRN BL unit.· I would also like this

·3· · information from anyone who represents any of

·4· · these persons.· We will make note of your name and

·5· · call upon you when it's time for comments.

·6· · · · · · · ·If you've joined us via WebEx, please

·7· · unmute yourself now and tell us your name if you

·8· · wish to make comments.

·9· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

10· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· Oh, I would like to.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· What is your

12· · name?

13· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· My name is Robert Molnar.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Robert Molnar, spell

15· · your last name for the court reporter.

16· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· Sure.· M-O-L-N-A-R.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Are you an unleased or

18· · owner, working interest owner, or owner in the

19· · property?

20· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· It appears to be a mineral

21· · owner in the property.· I'm actually an attorney

22· · representing them.

23· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· Great.· Thank

24· · you.· Anyone else?
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·1· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

·2· · · · · · · ·If you have joined us via phone, please

·3· · unmute yourself by pressing "star 6" and tell us

·4· · your name if you wish to make comments.

·5· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

·6· · · · · · · ·Thank you.· With that, we will begin

·7· · the hearing.

·8· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Thank you, and good

10· · afternoon.· Today is Thursday, December 11th,

11· · 2025.· And we're here on the matter of the

12· · application of Ascent Resources - Utica, LLC for

13· · unit operation of the Withey NE WRN BL unit.· This

14· · hearing before the Ohio Department of Natural

15· · Resources, Division of Oil and Gas Resources

16· · Management, is convened pursuant to Ohio Revised

17· · Code Section 1509.28.· My name is Jennifer

18· · Barrett, and I'm an administrative officer for the

19· · Division.· Also with me today is Program

20· · Administrator Barbara Richardson.· We are

21· · conducting the hearing today and serve as the

22· · Chief's designees on this matter.

23· · · · · · · ·On October 20th, 2025, Ascent filed

24· · with the Division an application for unit
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·1· · operations for a unit designated as the Withey NE

·2· · WRN BL unit.· Ascent made subsequent revisions to

·3· · the application.· The unit is proposed to be

·4· · located in Belmont and Guernsey Counties, Ohio.

·5· · In its application, Ascent claims to have the

·6· · mineral rights through voluntary agreements to

·7· · approximately 545.9 acres of the desired

·8· · approximate 691.193-acre unit.

·9· · · · · · · ·The purpose of today's hearing is to

10· · determine whether Ascent's Withey NE WRN BL unit

11· · application meets all the requirements of Revised

12· · Code Section 1509.28.· Under that section, the

13· · Chief of the Division must issue an order if he

14· · determines that the Applicant has shown that, one,

15· · the unit is reasonably necessary to increase

16· · substantially the ultimate recovery of oil and

17· · gas; and two, the estimated additional recovery

18· · from the unit exceeds the additional cost.

19· · · · · · · ·Neither the Chief nor any of us here

20· · today have made any decisions on Ascent's

21· · application.· After today's hearing, we will

22· · review all of the information provided to us in

23· · order to make a determination.· We have a court

24· · reporter present as well, and will also have a
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·1· · copy of the transcript of this hearing for review.

·2· · · · · · · ·The Chief's decision will be issued

·3· · through a Chief's Order, which will be posted on

·4· · the Division's website pursuant to Revised Code

·5· · Section 1509.36.· Any order may be appealed within

·6· · 30 days after the date upon which the person to

·7· · whom the order was issued received the order, and

·8· · for all other persons adversely affected by the

·9· · order, within 30 days after the date of the order

10· · complained of.

11· · · · · · · ·The hearing will proceed as follows:

12· · Ascent will present its witnesses and exhibit and

13· · will answer questions posed by the Division staff.

14· · Then any unleased mineral owners, working interest

15· · owners, and those persons with property included

16· · in the proposed Withey NE WRN unit will have the

17· · opportunity to present questions and concerns to

18· · the Division staff, and then the Division staff

19· · may take a break to determine if there's any

20· · additional questions for the Applicant.

21· · · · · · · ·To proceed in an orderly fashion, we

22· · ask that any interested party who speaks here

23· · today pose any questions to the Division, and we

24· · will then ask any questions to Ascent.
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·1· · Additionally, anyone speaking today will be asked

·2· · to provide their information to the court

·3· · reporter.· If you are uncomfortable speaking

·4· · during the hearing, we will also accept written

·5· · comments.

·6· · · · · · · ·Attorney Robert Molnar has indicated

·7· · that he wishes to make comments, and those

·8· · comments can be made at the end of the hearing.

·9· · · · · · · ·We will now ask the Applicant to make

10· · its introductions and begin his presentation.

11· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· Thank you, Ms. Barrett.

12· · · · · · · ·Good afternoon, everyone.· My name is

13· · Casey Valentine and I'm an attorney at the law

14· · firm of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease,

15· · representing Ascent Resources Utica, LLC, whom I

16· · will refer to as "Ascent" in today's hearing.

17· · Ascent is requesting a unit order authorizing it

18· · to develop the Withey NE WRN BL unit according to

19· · the unit plan attached to its application.· Ascent

20· · and the other consenting working interest owners

21· · in the unit have oil and gas leases covering over

22· · 78 percent of the unit acreage.· Ascent plans to

23· · develop the unit by drilling two wells nearly

24· · 16,000 feet in completed lateral length from the
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·1· · pad site located outside of the south end of the

·2· · unit.· Ascent is requesting a unit order because

·3· · there are tracts in the unit that are owned, in

·4· · whole or in part, by unleased mineral owners or

·5· · leased, in whole or in part, by a non-consenting

·6· · working interest owner.

·7· · · · · · · ·This afternoon, you will hear testimony

·8· · from three witnesses:· Rachel Lenox, a landman;

·9· · Paul Cooper, a geologist; and Matt Padgham, a

10· · reservoir engineer.· Their testimony will

11· · establish that Ascent meets each of the elements

12· · required for a unit order under Revised Code

13· · Section 1509.28.· We ask the Division to approve

14· · Ascent's application and issue the requested

15· · order.· We now call our first witness, Rachel

16· · Lenox.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Please swear in the

18· · witness.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · · · ·RACHEL LENOX

·3· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

·4· · follows:

·5· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

·6· · BY MR. VALENTINE:

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Good afternoon, Ms. Lenox.

·8· · A.· · · · ·Good afternoon.

·9· · Q.· · · · ·Would you please introduce yourself to

10· · everyone on the hearing and describe your

11· · educational and professional background?

12· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· My name is Rachel Lenox, and I

13· · am an associate landman at Ascent Resources.  I

14· · received my Bachelor degree in Business

15· · Administration and Energy Management from Western

16· · Colorado University.· I've been at Ascent

17· · Resources since June of 2022.

18· · · · · · · ·Prior to joining Ascent, I worked in

19· · various land roles at multiple E&P companies in

20· · Colorado and have over ten years of experience

21· · primarily working the DJ Basin.· I am an active

22· · member of the American Association of Professional

23· · Landmen and the Oklahoma City Association of

24· · Professional Landmen, and I also have my
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·1· · Registered Professional Landman certification.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· Are you in charge of

·3· · overseeing the development of the proposed unit?

·4· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I am.

·5· · Q.· · · · ·And I will direct your attention to

·6· · Exhibit D that I'm showing on the screen, which

·7· · depicts the Withey NE unit.· Would you please give

·8· · us a general description of the proposed unit and

·9· · explain what the different colors mean that are

10· · used to represent different tracts in the unit?

11· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· So the Withey NE unit is located

12· · in Millwood Township in Guernsey County and Warren

13· · Township in Belmont County.· The unit is made up

14· · of 49 separate tracts and is comprised of 691.193

15· · acres in total.

16· · · · · · · ·There are two laterals planned in the

17· · Withey NE unit: the Withey NE WRN BL 5H, which is

18· · roughly 15,948 feet in lateral length, and the

19· · Withey NE WRN BL 7H, which is roughly 15,974 feet

20· · in lateral length.· The pad will be located on the

21· · southwest end of the unit, which is depicted on

22· · the map as a green box, and the laterals will be

23· · drilled to the northwest.

24· · · · · · · ·There's a legend in the bottom
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·1· · right-hand corner of the map, which goes over all

·2· · the different colors.· The yellow tracts represent

·3· · parcels that are 100 percent leased and

·4· · consenting.· The green tracts represent the

·5· · non-consenting parcels.· The

·6· · green-and-yellow-hashed tracts represent partially

·7· · consenting and non-consenting parcels.· The

·8· · red-and-yellow-hashed tracts represent partially

·9· · consenting and partially unleased parcels, and the

10· · red tracts represent those parcels that are

11· · unleased.

12· · Q.· · · · ·What percentage of the working interest

13· · in the proposed unit is leased to Ascent and the

14· · other consenting working interest owners?

15· · A.· · · · ·That would be 78.979 percent of the

16· · unit, which is approximately 545.9 acres.

17· · Q.· · · · ·Have you attempted to negotiate an oil

18· · and gas lease with the remaining unleased mineral

19· · owners?

20· · A.· · · · ·Yes, Ascent has attempted to negotiate

21· · with all unleased owners and will continue to make

22· · contact, negotiate in good faith, and work to

23· · obtain leases as long as those owners are willing

24· · to work with us.



15

·1· · Q.· · · · ·Are there any non-consenting working

·2· · interest owners in the proposed deal?

·3· · A.· · · · ·Yes, there are.

·4· · Q.· · · · ·Have you attempted to negotiate an

·5· · agreement with those non-consenting working

·6· · interest owners?

·7· · A.· · · · ·Yes, we have.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·After the hearing today, will you

·9· · continue to negotiate with both of those parties?

10· · A.· · · · ·Yes, we will.

11· · Q.· · · · ·Turning back to Exhibit D on the

12· · screen, hovering over this gray square, locating

13· · the location of the well pad for the proposed

14· · unit.· Would you please tell us what the status is

15· · for that well pad?

16· · A.· · · · ·It has not been built yet.

17· · Q.· · · · ·What gives Ascent the right to locate

18· · the well pad at that location?

19· · A.· · · · ·We've obtained a surface use agreement

20· · with the surface owner of the pad location.

21· · Q.· · · · ·And if the Division issues the unit

22· · order Ascent is requesting, when does Ascent plan

23· · to drill the two wells?

24· · A.· · · · ·The Withey NE 5H and 7H are currently
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·1· · planned for third quarter 2026.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· I'm going to ask some

·3· · questions about the unit plan and operating

·4· · agreement included in the application.· Are you

·5· · familiar with the provisions of the unit plan,

·6· · including the operating agreement?

·7· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I am.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·And under the unit plan, how are unit

·9· · costs and production allocated?

10· · A.· · · · ·On a surface acreage basis.

11· · Q.· · · · ·In your experience, is allocating cost

12· · and production on a surface acreage basis a

13· · customary method?

14· · A.· · · · ·Yes, it is.

15· · Q.· · · · ·And under the unit plan, who is

16· · obligated to pay the unit cost?

17· · A.· · · · ·That would be the working interest

18· · owners.

19· · Q.· · · · ·Does the operating agreement include a

20· · non-consent penalty for any of the non-consenting

21· · working interest owners?

22· · A.· · · · ·Yes, it does.

23· · Q.· · · · ·Would you please tell us what that

24· · non-consent penalty is?
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·1· · A.· · · · ·It's 500 percent.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·And in your experience, do you believe

·3· · 500 percent is a fair percentage for a non-consent

·4· · penalty?

·5· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I do.

·6· · Q.· · · · ·Are you aware of other operators in the

·7· · region using a similar penalty in their operating

·8· · agreements?

·9· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I am.· 500 percent is a common

10· · penalty used in JOAs throughout the Utica.

11· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you, Ms. Lenox.

12· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· No further questions.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

14· · · · · · · ·Ms. Lenox, in reviewing the

15· · application, I noticed that there were some

16· · unknown or undetermined mineral owners.· Please

17· · describe what efforts you have taken to identify

18· · unknown or undetermined mineral owners.

19· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· Ascent has

20· · undertaken extensive efforts to identify all the

21· · owners in this unit.· Some of these efforts

22· · include research of county records, including

23· · county recorder and county court documents, as

24· · well as various online sources such as
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·1· · Newspapers.com, Find a Grave, and Ancestry.com.

·2· · Where possible, we'll supplement our review of the

·3· · official county records with genealogical records

·4· · provided by parties with knowledge of the

·5· · ownership chain.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· If you

·7· · were to receive a unitization order, can you

·8· · describe what happens to any payments that would

·9· · be owed to unknown or undetermined mineral owners

10· · under that order?

11· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· Any revenue would

12· · be withheld and placed in suspense until the

13· · ownership could be determined.· Ascent would have

14· · to agree that the documentation cures and clears

15· · the title issue, and then the revenue would be

16· · released to the appropriate owners.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

18· · the current average outstanding offer to the

19· · unleased mineral owners in the proposed unit?

20· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The average current

21· · outstanding offer is approximately $4,800 an acre

22· · and 18.11 percent royalty, which is a mixture of

23· · net and gross.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And we --
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·1· · do those offers -- they do include surface use,

·2· · correct?

·3· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Our standard lease form

·4· · does include surface use, but we would be willing

·5· · to negotiate on surface.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· When will those offers

·7· · expire?

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· They currently don't have

·9· · an expiration date, but any extended offer is only

10· · valid for a reasonable amount of time.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

12· · the average offer that was accepted by leased

13· · mineral owners in the proposed unit?

14· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The average offer

15· · accepted is approximately $3,652 an acre and 18.51

16· · percent royalty, which is a mixture of net and

17· · gross royalty.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Can you

19· · please describe and explain the difference between

20· · the current offer and the average accepted offers?

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· The difference

22· · between the average accepted and average unleased

23· · offer is likely due to several reasons.· Some of

24· · these include the lease terms, surface versus
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·1· · non-surface, when the lease was taken and

·2· · acquired, and competitor activity in the area.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And in

·4· · your professional opinion, do you believe your

·5· · lease attempts have been reasonable, and if so,

·6· · why?

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, I believe our lease

·8· · attempts have been reasonable and that our contact

·9· · log reflects the efforts we've made to lease all

10· · the owners in this unit.· This is also evident in

11· · the fact that more than 98 percent of the unit is

12· · leased.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Do the

14· · leases and the unit authorize drilling into and

15· · producing from the proposed formation?

16· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· All leases cover

17· · the unitized formation.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And to

19· · establish bonus and royalty amounts and leases,

20· · how are those generally determined?

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Bonus and royalty are

22· · determined by a number of different factors, but

23· · some of these include estimated well economics,

24· · competitor activity in the area, lease acquisition
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·1· · timing, and commodity prices.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

·3· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· I do not.· Thank you.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Mr. Valentine, please

·6· · call your next witness.

·7· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· The next witness will

·8· · be Paul Cooper.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Please swear in the

10· · witness.

11· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

12· · · · · · · · · · · · PAUL COOPER

13· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

14· · follows:

15· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

16· · BY MR. VALENTINE:

17· · Q.· · · · ·Good afternoon, Mr. Cooper.

18· · A.· · · · ·Good afternoon, Casey.

19· · · · · · · ·Good afternoon, everyone.

20· · Q.· · · · ·Could you please introduce yourself and

21· · describe your educational and professional

22· · background?

23· · A.· · · · ·Certainly.· My name is Paul Cooper.

24· · I'm a geologist at Ascent Resources.· I've been
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·1· · with Ascent for the past roughly 11 years.· So

·2· · that's 11 years of Appalachian operator

·3· · experience.· Prior to that, I was a well-site

·4· · geology subcontractor providing geological

·5· · consulting services on drilling rigs in various

·6· · basins in the US, including the Appalachian Basin.

·7· · I did that for about seven years, so a total of

·8· · around 18 years total industry experience.· I have

·9· · a Bachelor of Science in Geology from Virginia

10· · Tech, and I'm a member of the American Association

11· · of Petroleum Geologists.

12· · Q.· · · · ·And as a geologist, what are your

13· · typical job responsibilities at Ascent?

14· · A.· · · · ·So, in general, a geologist at an oil

15· · and gas company is responsible for the

16· · acquisition, curation, and interpretation of

17· · subsurface data.· It's no different here.  A

18· · specific example of that workflow would be

19· · something like for this hearing, where I look at

20· · subsurface data in and around the Withey unit in

21· · order to generate an interpretation on whether the

22· · area under that unit would qualify as a pool or a

23· · part of a pool.

24· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· I'm going to ask you some
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·1· · questions regarding the unitized formation

·2· · underlying proposed unit, and whether it is a pool

·3· · or a part of a pool.· To start, what are the

·4· · subsurface depths that Ascent is seeking to

·5· · unitize here?

·6· · A.· · · · ·We're seeking to unitize the entirety

·7· · of the Utica Shale formation.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·And as a geologist, how do you define

·9· · the term "pool?"

10· · A.· · · · ·A "pool" is an area of the subsurface

11· · that has similar rock and reservoir properties.

12· · Porosity, permeability, rock type, mineralogy, and

13· · important in oil and gas is an accumulation of

14· · hydrocarbons shared.

15· · Q.· · · · ·Did you evaluate the subsurface beneath

16· · the proposed unit?

17· · A.· · · · ·I did.

18· · Q.· · · · ·Do you mind telling us about some of

19· · the information that you reviewed and analyzed

20· · during your evaluation?

21· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· The primary data source for an

22· · evaluation of this type would be vertical wells

23· · that had penetrated the entirety of the Utica

24· · Shale and had a suite of electric logs over that
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·1· · interval.· Additional data useful for an analysis

·2· · of this type would be nearby core.· So, real rock

·3· · that could be tied to those logs in a

·4· · petrophysical model.· Any seismic 2D or 3D in the

·5· · area or any structural data you might have, so

·6· · other nearby horizontal wells, which don't have a

·7· · suite of log curves over them, but you can at

·8· · least come up with a depth model for the Point

·9· · Pleasant over that area.· So, a robust amount of

10· · data goes into an analysis of this type.

11· · Q.· · · · ·Let us look at more of that

12· · information.· I'm showing Exhibit F on the screen

13· · currently.· I believe this is one of the pieces of

14· · information that you reviewed during your

15· · evaluation.· Would you mind explaining for

16· · everyone here on the hearing what information is

17· · depicted here on Exhibit F?

18· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· So Exhibit F is a subsea

19· · structure map of the top of the Point Pleasant

20· · Interval of the Utica.· So it's a map illustrating

21· · the depth below sea level of that surface.· The

22· · purple crosses on this map represent the depth

23· · control used to generate that map.· Most of these

24· · points represent other Utica or Point Pleasant



25

·1· · horizontals.

·2· · · · · · · ·Also illustrated are orange circles

·3· · connected by a line across the blue box which

·4· · represents the Withey unit area.· That is a

·5· · cross-section -- a line of cross-sections which

·6· · will be shown in a subsequent exhibit.· Those two

·7· · wells represent vertical wells that have

·8· · penetrated the Utica and have a suite of logs

·9· · across them.· As I mentioned, these are the

10· · primary data source for analysis.· Those represent

11· · the two closest wells to the Withey unit that meet

12· · that criteria.

13· · · · · · · ·And what this map is showing is these

14· · sort of fairly evenly spaced 200-foot contours,

15· · illustrating a dip sort of east-southeast, gentle

16· · and about a degree.· It's showing the lack of any

17· · kind of structural complexity or anything that

18· · would indicate compartmentalization or structural

19· · differentiation of the Point Pleasant under the

20· · Withey unit.

21· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· I'm going to put Exhibit E

22· · on the screen, which is the cross-section I

23· · believe you referenced.· Just like you did for

24· · Exhibit F, please explain what information is
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·1· · depicted in Exhibit E.

·2· · A.· · · · ·Yes, sir.· So this is a simple two-well

·3· · cross-section.· There are numerous wells in the

·4· · area that meet the criteria of being vertical

·5· · wells with logs to the Point Pleasant.· These just

·6· · happen to be the two closest that I selected for a

·7· · simplified cross-section.

·8· · · · · · · ·Illustrated on each well on the left is

·9· · a gamma-ray curve, and on the right is a deep

10· · resistivity curve.· Just two of the suite of

11· · curves taken on these wells.· The point of

12· · displaying these is to illustrate the lack of any

13· · significant change from well to well.· So, over an

14· · area that is significantly greater than the unit

15· · area, you can see that the Atmos is about six

16· · miles from the unit area.· And the center of the

17· · unit area, the Awkward DR, is about seven miles

18· · from the center of the unit area.

19· · · · · · · ·So over a distance significantly

20· · greater than the Withey unit area, the character

21· · of the curve -- the log character from well to

22· · well changes almost not at all -- the general

23· · character.· That can be interpreted to mean the

24· · rock and reservoir properties are similarly not
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·1· · changing significantly over that distance.

·2· · · · · · · ·Also illustrated here: the horizontal

·3· · lines, the lines of formation correlation, the top

·4· · of the Utica, the top of the Point Pleasant, and

·5· · the base of the Utica, which is the top of the

·6· · Trenton, is showing a remarkably consistent

·7· · thickness over, again, an area that is

·8· · significantly greater than the unit area.· So

·9· · based on these observations, I think there's not a

10· · compelling reason to interpret any significant

11· · change over the Withey unit area or in fact, an

12· · area much larger than the Withey unit area.

13· · Q.· · · · ·So based on your evaluation of the

14· · subsurface beneath the proposed unit, do you

15· · believe that the unitized formation is a pool or

16· · part of a pool?

17· · A.· · · · ·I believe it's a part of the larger

18· · Utica pool.· Yes.

19· · Q.· · · · ·And based on the characteristics of the

20· · unitized formation, it is allocating unit

21· · production and costs based on the surface acreage.

22· · Is that appropriate in this case?

23· · A.· · · · ·I believe so.

24· · Q.· · · · ·Would you mind explaining it again why
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·1· · you believe that?

·2· · A.· · · · ·Certainly.· Based on the limited reason

·3· · for interpreting change, I would say, for example,

·4· · an acre at one end of the unit would be similar in

·5· · rock and reservoir characteristics, and so it

·6· · would be similar in value to an acre at the other

·7· · end of the unit.· So, value based on surface area

·8· · -- surface acreage makes sense.

·9· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you, Mr. Cooper.

10· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· I have no further

11· · questions.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

13· · · · · · · ·Mr. Cooper, what is the anticipated

14· · true vertical depth of the horizontal portion of

15· · the wellbore?

16· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· We anticipate landing our

17· · well at approximately 8,524 feet, and that would

18· · be roughly the middle of the Point Pleasant.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

20· · the anticipated true vertical depth of the top of

21· · the Utica, the Point Pleasant, and the Trenton?

22· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· We anticipate

23· · encountering the top of the Utica at 8,340 feet;

24· · the top of the Point Pleasant, at 8,459 feet; and
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·1· · the top of the Trenton, which is the base of the

·2· · Utica, at 8,569 feet.· Those all being true

·3· · vertical depths.

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Do you

·5· · expect production from outside the Point Pleasant?

·6· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes ma'am.· We anticipate

·7· · a smaller component of the production coming from

·8· · the upper Utica above the Point Pleasant.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

10· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· I do not.· Thank you.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

13· · · · · · · ·Mr. Valentine, please call your next

14· · witness.

15· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· Our next witness will

16· · be Matt Padgham.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Please swear in the

18· · witness.

19

20

21

22

23

24
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · · · ·MATT PADGHAM

·3· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

·4· · follows:

·5· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

·6· · BY MR. VALENTINE:

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Good afternoon, Mr. Padgham.

·8· · A.· · · · ·Hi, Casey.

·9· · Q.· · · · ·Would you please introduce yourself to

10· · everyone here on the hearing and describe your

11· · educational and professional background?

12· · A.· · · · ·Of course, yes.· My name is Matt

13· · Padgham, and I'm a reservoir engineering advisor

14· · for Ascent Resources.· Prior to entering the

15· · industry, I obtained a Mechanical Engineering

16· · degree from Oklahoma State University.· After

17· · completion of that, I entered the industry as a

18· · reservoir engineer, where I've been a practicing

19· · reservoir engineer for a little over 15 years,

20· · Including over three years with Ascent.· I have

21· · had the opportunity to work quite a few different

22· · basins including the Anadarko Basin, Fort Worth

23· · Basin, East Texas Basin, Arkoma Basin, as well as

24· · the Appalachian Basin of course, here at Ascent.
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·1· · Q.· · · · ·Are you a member of any professional

·2· · associations?

·3· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I'm a member of the Society of

·4· · Petroleum Engineers.

·5· · Q.· · · · ·And can you tell us what some of your

·6· · typical job responsibilities are at Ascent as a

·7· · reservoir engineer?

·8· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· My responsibilities generally

·9· · include anything to do with well performance

10· · analysis.· That includes decline curve analysis,

11· · reservoir simulation, and volumetrics.· But that

12· · also expands to include responsibility for

13· · cataloging and valuing our producing and

14· · undeveloped reserves.· And then, you know, lastly,

15· · I would be involved with property evaluation for

16· · any acquisitions and divestitures.

17· · Q.· · · · ·And next, would you please tell us a

18· · bit about your process for forecasting well

19· · performance?

20· · A.· · · · ·Yeah.· For the purposes of this

21· · application, we utilize what's called a "type

22· · curve" or a "type well," which is a lateral length

23· · normalized average of analogous offsets.· For us,

24· · "analogous offsets" would be defined as wells with
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·1· · similar completions, similar rock properties, and

·2· · just generally similar expected performance.

·3· · Q.· · · · ·And did you forecast well performance

·4· · for the proposed unit under a unitized operating

·5· · scenario where the Division issues the requested

·6· · unit order, and a non-unitized operating scenario

·7· · where the requested unit order is not issued and

·8· · Ascent develops to the extent it can on a

·9· · voluntary basis?

10· · A.· · · · ·Yes, that is correct.

11· · Q.· · · · ·And how much production did you

12· · forecast in a unitized operating scenario?

13· · A.· · · · ·You can see it summarized in the

14· · exhibit on the screen at the top.· Under the

15· · "Unitized Scenario" on the "Total" line, the far

16· · right column is 52.54 BCFe.

17· · Q.· · · · ·Yeah, and working our way down these

18· · columns, how much production did you forecast in

19· · the non-unitized operating scenario?

20· · A.· · · · ·In the non-unitized scenario, we would

21· · be unable to drill the wells.· So that is zero.

22· · Q.· · · · ·Just show everyone real quick why we

23· · cannot drill the well, is it because you would run

24· · into a non-consenting tract right away?
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·1· · A.· · · · ·That is correct.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· Back to your table.· So, if I am

·3· · reading your tables correctly, the additional

·4· · estimated recovery that would be obtained in the

·5· · unitized operating scenario is the full 52.54

·6· · BCFe?

·7· · A.· · · · ·That is correct.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·Do you consider 52.54 BCFe to be a

·9· · substantial amount of production?

10· · A.· · · · ·I do.· We would consider anything

11· · greater than one BCFe to be a large sum.

12· · Q.· · · · ·In your opinion, is an order for unit

13· · operations reasonably necessary to increase

14· · substantially the ultimate recovery from the

15· · proposed unit?

16· · A.· · · · ·It is.

17· · Q.· · · · ·And coming back to your tables here at

18· · the bottom, what is the anticipated value of that

19· · additional 52.54 BCFe that would be recovered in

20· · the unitized operating scenario?

21· · A.· · · · ·Yep.· So we have two different kinds of

22· · valuation columns there.· The first is the "PV0,"

23· · which is a summation of the operating costs and

24· · capital costs, as well as expected revenue.· So
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·1· · basically all cash inflow -- summation of all cash

·2· · inflows and outflows relative to these two wells.

·3· · · · · · · ·And then the "PV10" is that same

·4· · number, just discounted at a 10 percent discount

·5· · rate to account for the time value of money, PV10

·6· · being a standard industry practice for valuation

·7· · of producing properties.· And for this case, the

·8· · total of the two wells and the 52.5 BCFe would

·9· · amount to $56.58 million.

10· · Q.· · · · ·So, based on those values that you just

11· · mentioned, does the value of the estimated

12· · additional hydrocarbons produced exceed the

13· · estimated additional cost needed to produce them?

14· · A.· · · · ·It does.

15· · Q.· · · · ·And last question: Your colleague,

16· · Ms. Lenox, testified that the well pad for the

17· · proposed unit has not been constructed yet.· When

18· · you calculated the figures in these economic

19· · summary tables, how did you account for the well

20· · pad cost?

21· · A.· · · · ·So, yeah.· Not yet constructed, so we

22· · utilize estimates.· And then in this case, there's

23· · these two wells for the unit in question.· And

24· · then the planned two additional wells off of this
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·1· · pad for a total of four.· And so, those estimated

·2· · pad costs are shared evenly across all four wells.

·3· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you, Mr. Padgham.

·4· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· I have no further

·5· · questions for you.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

·7· · the estimated economic life of the well in years?

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· We limit the economic

·9· · life at 50 years.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· And did you mention a

11· · strip price?· Like, what the price was in your

12· · economic calculations?

13· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah.· So, for the

14· · purposes of this application, we utilized the

15· · October 8th-dated strip price, which we honor for

16· · the first four years and then hold flat at that

17· · fourth-year number.· In this instance, that fourth

18· · year number was $3.83 per MCF and $62.10 per

19· · barrel of oil.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· When do

21· · you estimate you will recover the cost of

22· · drilling, testing, and completing the well at one

23· · times, one-and-a-half, two, and three?

24· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· At one times payout, we
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·1· · estimate at 1.1 years.· At one-and-a-half times

·2· · payout, we estimate at 1.6 years.· At two times

·3· · payout, 2.4 years.· And then lastly, three times

·4· · payout is estimated at 5.5 years.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And it was

·6· · mentioned that the pad is not built yet, but it

·7· · will be a total of four wells; Is that correct?

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· That is correct.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· What amount was

10· · included for plugging and restoration costs in

11· · your economic calculations?

12· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· We assume $250,000 for

13· · plugging, abandonment, and restoration.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

15· · the estimated BCFe per thousand feet?

16· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It is 1.65.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And what

18· · is the estimated recovery factor in the area?

19· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah.· For this area, we

20· · estimate approximately 80 percent.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· 80 percent.· Thank

22· · you.

23· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

·3· · BY MS. BARRETT:

·4· · Q.· · · · ·On the $250,000 per well for plugging

·5· · and restoration costs, what was that based on?

·6· · A.· · · · ·That's based on historical plugging and

·7· · abandonment expenses that we've incurred on just

·8· · really, just a handful of historically plugged

·9· · wells.

10· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No further questions for

12· · me.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

14· · · · · · · ·Once again, if you would like to make

15· · comments, I am first going to take your names and

16· · note whether you are an unleased mineral owner,

17· · working interest owner, or owner with property in

18· · the unit.

19· · · · · · · ·Only one person may speak at a time to

20· · properly record hearing, and please mute your

21· · microphone once you have delivered your comments

22· · or questions to avoid any feedback.· Additionally,

23· · anyone speaking today will be asked to provide

24· · their information to the court reporter.· If
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·1· · you're uncomfortable speaking during the hearing,

·2· · we will also accept written comments.

·3· · · · · · · ·Now, we do have a gentleman, Robert

·4· · Molnar, that would like to make a comment or has a

·5· · question.· But before we get to him, let me ask:

·6· · If you've joined us via WebEx and would like to

·7· · make comments, please unmute yourself and state

·8· · your name.

·9· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

10· · · · · · · ·If anyone has joined us via phone and

11· · would like to make comments, please unmute

12· · yourself by pressing "star 6" and state your name.

13· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

14· · · · · · · ·As a reminder, we ask that any

15· · interested party who speaks here today pose any

16· · questions to the Division, and we will then ask

17· · any questions to the Applicant.

18· · · · · · · ·With that being said, Robert Molnar,

19· · are you there?

20· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· I am here, yes.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· We will

22· · swear you in.

23· · · · · · · ·Please swear in the witness.

24· · · · · · · ·(Robert Molnar was sworn in.)
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Please

·2· · proceed with your question or comment.

·3· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· Thank you.· I only have

·4· · two questions.· The exhibits refer to tracts; Is

·5· · that synonymous with "parcel"?

·6· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· I think I can answer

·7· · this question.

·8· · · · · · · ·It is not synonymous with "parcel."  A

·9· · tract just is used to identify the portion of a

10· · tax parcel located within the proposed unit.· In

11· · some cases, that may be the entirety of the

12· · parcel, depending on the location of the proposed

13· · unit and its configuration.· But no, in the

14· · exhibits --· that's why in the exhibits, you'll

15· · see a tract number and then a parcel number.· But

16· · it does not mean that the entire tax parcel is

17· · included within the tract.· But that could be the

18· · case.· You would need to check Exhibits B or D to

19· · see if that is the case.

20· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· At the risk of doing a

21· · follow-up when I said I would only ask two

22· · questions, what's the -- how do you -- is there a

23· · short way of explaining how you differentiate

24· · between a tract and a parcel?
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·1· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· So, the parcel number

·2· · is the tax parcel number that is designated by the

·3· · auditor of the county where the property is

·4· · located.· And then the tract number is just

·5· · designated by the Applicant in its application to

·6· · identify either the portion of the parcel, or just

·7· · the different individual tracts, or the individual

·8· · parcels within the unit.

·9· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· Okay.· My second question

10· · was there was a reference to something called a

11· · "non-consent penalty," and I was looking for a

12· · definition or explanation what that might be.

13· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· Sure.· That is -- a

14· · non-consent penalty applies to working owners who

15· · are -- do not consent or elect to participate in

16· · the unit, so they're not sharing in the cost of

17· · the unit.· So their portion of the costs are

18· · shared by the consenting working interest owners

19· · and the proportion of, like, ownership for each

20· · consenting working interest owners.· So if

21· · there's -- say there's four working interest

22· · owners, and they all own 25 percent, and three

23· · consent to or are going to be consenting.· They

24· · would -- the costs of the 25 percent of the unit
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·1· · would be shared by those three consenting working

·2· · interest owners equally.

·3· · · · · · · ·MR. MOLNAR:· I see.· Okay.· Thank you

·4· · very much.· I have no further comments or

·5· · questions.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

·7· · · · · · · ·Does the -- Ms. Barrett, do you have

·8· · any additional questions for the Applicant?

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No, I do not.· Thank you.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· And does the Applicant

11· · have any closing remarks?

12· · · · · · · ·MR. VALENTINE:· We do not.· Thank you

13· · all for your time this afternoon.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

15· · · · · · · ·Thank you everyone.· The hearing is now

16· · concluded.

17· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

18· · · · · · ·Thereupon, the foregoing proceedings

19· · · · · · ·concluded at 3:11 p.m.

20· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

21

22
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·1· · State of Ohio· · ·:· · ·C E R T I F I C A T E
· · · County of Franklin: SS
·2
· · · · · ·I, Jack M. Casey, a Notary Public in and for
·3· · the State of Ohio, do hereby certify that I
· · · transcribed or supervised the transcription of the
·4· · audio recording of the aforementioned proceedings;
· · · that the foregoing is a true record of the
·5· · proceedings.

·6· · · · ·I do further certify I am not a relative,
· · · employee or attorney of any of the parties hereto,
·7· · and further I am not a relative or employee of any
· · · attorney or counsel employed by the parties
·8· · hereto, or financially interested in the action.

·9· · · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my
· · · hand and affixed my seal of office at Columbus,
10· · Ohio, on January 5, 2026.

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20· · _________________________________________________
· · · Jack M. Casey, Notary Public - State of Ohio
21· · My commission expires November 24, 2030.
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Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP
Greg D. Russell, Mark A. Hylton, and Casey Valentine
Attorneys for Applicant 

Application for Unit Operations
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